

## **Heritage Citation**

# 111 Beaudesert Road, Moorooka

### **Key details**

Addresses	At 111 Beaudesert Road, Moorooka, Queensland 4105; At 82 Durack Street, Moorooka, Queensland 4105
Type of place	House
Period	World War II 1939-1945
Style	Spanish Mission
Lot plan	L2_RP55628
Key dates	Local Heritage Place Since — 29 November 2019 Date of Citation — June 2018
Criterion for listing	(A) Historical; (D) Representative; (E) Aesthetic

This low set, masonry and stucco building, set on a busy street corner of Durack and Beaudesert Roads in Moorooka, is a well-designed, largely intact example of the picturesque residential style with Mediterranean influences. The subject house was constructed in 1941 for Robert McDonald, a clerk, and his wife, Elsie. At this time, Moorooka was experiencing considerable growth after the extension of the tram-line along Beaudesert Road in 1937. The cost of the house was £1,150 – a considerable amount for that period. It is important as an interwar era house built in response to the expansion of the city in the early 1940s in several city-ring suburbs including Moorooka, and represents the rise of the professional class in Moorooka.

## **History**

First known as Rocky Water Holes and Rocklea East, the name "Moorooka" was first used in 1887 when the local railway station was opened. The name is thought to be a reference to the indigenous name for the iron bark trees once common in the area. A more obscure rumour is that the name is derived from an Aboriginal word

describing a nose. Prior to the opening of the railway line, Moorooka was a rural area and part of Yeerongpilly local government division. Cotton and sugar cane was grown in the area in the 1860s and general farming continued in later years. Prior to this timber cutting was the major industry due to the use of Ironbark in early Brisbane buildings. Moorooka was also a convenient site for picnics for Brisbane locals due to the lush water holes present in the area.

The completion of the South Coast Line, from South Brisbane to Beenleigh, in 1885 opened up the southern areas of Brisbane to those wishing to live outside Brisbane city, but with an easy commute to town. The platform at Moorooka station was completed in 1886 but in 1891/1892, the station was moved approximately 100 meters to the North along Ipswich Road, and a passenger waiting shed was built.

In the 1920s, the suburb was selected for soldier settlement although the area remained relatively undeveloped until the 1950s, when a sharp increase in the population encouraged subdivision of many of the large blocks of land still owned by Brisbane's wealthy elite. Shops started to be constructed along Beaudesert Road and Mayfield Road from 1925, and an American servicemans camp was located on Mayfield Road, NE of the school, during World War II.

Beaudesert Road became the commercial centre of Moorooka, with the suburb developing around this central location. Prior to World War I, Moorooka was still a largely rural area, dotted with residential development. From the interwar period industry made use of the existing train line and the land close to the railway between Moorooka and Coopers Plains became heavily industrialised, while residential development occurred largely from Ipswich Road to Toohey Forest (to the East). The train station during the first half of the twentieth century was utilised by local industry and the military to ship goods – while a tram station was built in 1937 along Beaudesert Road to service the new estates, which had developed along Beaudesert Road from the 1880s.

#### **CENSUS DATA**

Moorooka - 1911 - Population: 350

Moorooka - 1921 - Population: 791

Moorooka (including Rocklea and Salisbury) - 1947 - Population: 8364

Moorooka (including Rocklea and Salisbury) - 1954 - Population: 12,163

Moorooka (including Rocklea and Salisbury) - 1971 - Population: 17,246

Moorooka - 1976 - Population: 9639

Moorooka - 2001 - Population: 8609

Moorooka - 2006 - Population: 9194

Moorooka - 2011 - Population: 9984

The subject property was originally part of a large estate (Portion 157B) of over 20 acres belonging to Charles Bushell.

The property transferred to several people before the first subdivision took place in 1888. Subdivision 1 of Portion 157B (over 1 acre in size) transferred to Arthur Preston in May 1888. He took out a mortgage in 1903 but the land remained unimproved. It then passed to Paul Logan in 1914, who also took out a mortgage, but did not

improve the land. Logan subdivided the property further in 1937, at the same time Brisbane City Council resumed land along Beaudesert Road in preparation for laying the tram extension to Moorooka.

The land the subject property sits on was acquired by Brisbane City Council in March 1939, who subdivided the land further. Subdivision 2 was transferred to Robert and Elsie McDonald in December 1940, sized 27.7 perches.

In the early 1940s, there was a real estate boom in suburbs like St Lucia, Holland Park and Moorooka, with increased sales and building works noted in the March 1941 Architectural & Building Journal of Queensland (A&B Journal). Prior to 1940, Durack Street was a lane – the McDonalds deliberately bought a corner block and appear to have constructed the house in relation to the layout of the block.

Robert McDonald was a clerk, and Elsie performed house duties. They lodged a building application in April 1941, at a house cost £1150, a considerable expense for such a modest house, given the cost of other properties at the same time. The house was featured in The Telegraph as "An Attractive Home on Broad Plan" and the article praises its design stating that "Occupying a corner site, sufficiently elevated to enjoy the advantage of prevailing summer breezes, the broad frontage lent itself to this method of planning and at the same time gave the home a good margin of breathing space on a comparatively shallow allotment".

There is no architect recorded, however architect Michael Kennedy in his nomination states that the property may have been designed by Douglas Roberts, an interwar domestic architect based in Brisbane who designed houses in the interwar Mediterranean style. The A&B Journal tender records show Roberts as having a brick residence at Moorooka on his books in May 1941. However, Roberts who had been ill for some time died on 24 July 1941 and no further tender details are recorded in the A&B Journals.

While Elsie died in 1967, Robert McDonald continued to own the property until 1995 when it was transferred to members of his family.

## **Description**

The subject building is a one-storey Post-war masonry house built in a Spanish Mission style with Old English Elements. The building features a multi gable roof with gable ends facing each street front, bay windows and a prominent arched entry way.

The subject property is located on a prominent corner site on the western side of a high traffic road across from a suburban shopping centre. The surrounding area has a mixed character with commercial and industrial areas along the main roads and residential between. The Beaudesert Road boundary is lined with a small brick fence with hedges planted behind. Hedges also line the southern boundary. A concrete path provides pedestrian access to the property from the south east corner and a concrete driveway leads to the car parking at the western side of the yard.

The subject building has a multi gable roof with three gable ends facing Durack Street and a smaller gable at the southern end of the building facing Beaudesert Road. The gable roof is clad in glazed terracotta tiles. The rear of the dwelling has a skillion roof clad in corrugated iron.

The external walls have a rendered finish with face brick below ground floor level and patches. Windows are mostly casement with four clear panes per leaf and face brick sills. The east elevation features two bay windows,

one square set in the gable end and one faceted at the northern end. A tripartite double hung window is noted in the square set bay. The entry porch at the southern end of the building has an arched entry way with face brick details. The gable end facing Beaudesert Road features a basket weave brick feature at the top and face brick brackets to the eaves. The gable above the entry way has a parapet with face brick brackets.

On the southern elevation there is a large window at the centre and another window at the corner of the building. The southern side of the entry porch has a glass block feature and is enclosed with a porphyry stone wall and large fixed window. A later extension to the rear of the building is evident from this elevation, it features external walls clad in weatherboard painted to match the render of the masonry walls.

External walls at the rear of the building are clad in weatherboard and the subfloor is enclosed with horizontal timber battens painted to match the face brick. Louvred sun shades cover all windows on the western and northern façade. Weatherboard cladding with a vent is noted in the upper portion of the northern gable end. The interior of the subject building has not been inspected.

The subject building is in excellent condition and has had some additions and alteration. These include the addition to the rear of the building, enclosing of the entry porch on the southern side, addition of an access ramp and addition of sun shading devices.

## Statement of significance

#### Relevant assessment criteria

This is a place of local heritage significance and meets one or more of the local heritage criteria under the Heritage planning scheme policy of the *Brisbane City Plan 2014*. It is significant because:

#### **Historical**

CRITERION A

The place is important in demonstrating the evolution or pattern of the city's or local area's history

as an interwar era house, representative of the expansion of the city in the early 1940s in several ring suburbs including Moorooka, which occurred despite building material shortages during World War II, and which followed the 1937 resumption of land along both sides of Beaudesert Road for the tramline extension through to Moorooka, which enabled the expansion of the city.

#### Representative

CRITERION D

The place is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a particular class or classes of cultural

places

as an interwar era house, representative of the rise of the professional class in Moorooka, specifically along Beaudesert Road in the 1930s and 1940s, as a modest, intact example of the locally developed, picturesque residential style.

#### **Aesthetic**

**CRITERION E** 

The place is important because of its aesthetic significance

as a well-designed, largely intact example of the locally developed, picturesque residential style with Mediterranean influences, located on a prominent street corner, and an asymmetrical form which features contrasting materials and fine detailing. The low-set face-brick boundary wall contemporary to the building and the modest garden provide a sympathetic setting to the corner streetscape presentation.

### **Copyright Brisbane City Council**

**Note:** This citation has been prepared on the basis of evidence available at the time including an external examination of the building. The statement of significance is a summary of the most culturally important aspects of the property based on the available evidence, and may be re-assessed if further information becomes available. The purpose of this citation is to provide an informed evaluation for heritage registration and information. This does not negate the necessity for a thorough conservation study by a qualified practitioner, before any action is taken which may affect its heritage significance.

**Citation prepared by** — Brisbane City Council (page revised September 2020)



Dedicated to a better Brisbane